1992

Utah v. David Simmons and Patricia Kay Simmons: Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION AND NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

This is an appeal from the grant of defendants' motions to suppress evidence in a case charging both defendants with possession of a controlled substance with the intent to distribute, a second degree felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 58-37-8 (Supp. 1992), in the First Judicial District Court in and for Box Elder County, State of Utah, the Honorable Clint S. Judkins, presiding. This Court has jurisdiction to hear this case pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 77-18a-1(2)(e) (Supp. 1992) and Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(e) (Supp. 1992).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES AND

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The issues presented in this appeal are:

1. Did the trial court erroneously find that the search warrants in defendants' cases were served "in the night," as that term is used in Utah Code Ann. § 77-23-5 (1990)? Factual findings supporting a trial court's decision on a motion to suppress are subject to a clearly erroneous standard. State v. Bobo, 803 P.2d 1268, 1271-72 (Utah App. 1990). Conclusions of law arising from factual findings in a motion to suppress hearing

are subject to a correction of error standard, according no particular deference to the trial court. Ibid. In this case the trial court's determination that the warrants were served "in the night" also required a statutory interpretation of the meaning of that term as it is used in section 77-23-5. "[An appellate court will] review for correctness a trial court's statutory interpretation, according it no particular deference.'" State v. Singh, 819 P.2d 356, 359 (Utah App. 1991) (citations omitted).

2. Did the trial court erroneously conclude, under State v. Rowe, 196 Utah Adv. Rep. 14 (Utah Sept. 28, 1992) (Rowe II), that because police officers in these cases did not also possess valid arrest warrants, it was compelled to suppress evidence obtained in reliance on an invalid nighttime search warrant? A trial court's interpretation of the law is a legal conclusion. "Utah appellate courts review legal conclusions under a correction-of-error standard, granting no particular deference to the trial court." State v. Gonzalez, 822 P.2d 1214, 1217 (Utah App. 1991).

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES AND RULES

Determinative constitutional provisions, statutes and rules are compiled in Addendum A where not set forth in the body of this brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Defendants David Simmons and Patricia Kay Simmons were both charged with possession of a controlled substance with the intent to distribute within 1,000 feet of any structure, facility

or grounds of a preschool or child care facility, or that such act(s) were committed with a person younger than 18 years of age, a second degree felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 58-37-8(1), (5) (Supp. 1992) (R. 2).¹ Prior to trial defendants moved to suppress evidence (R. 33-37, 119-34). The trial court granted the motion (R. 83-84). Thereafter, the State petitioned for interlocutory review, which was granted by this Court (R. 86-117).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On January 20, 1992, Officer Carl Merino of the Roy City Police Department prepared an affidavit in support of a search warrant (R. 38-41). The warrant alleged the following facts: that a reliable confidential informant (CI) who had worked with the Roy City Narcotics Strike Force for two years had made two purchases of marijuana from one Jeremy Pettingill, first on December 6, 1991, and second within the preceding twenty-four hours; that on the first occasion Pettingill told the CI that he (CI) would have to go to Willard, Utah to pick up the marijuana; that on the second occasion the CI drove Pettingill to a residence located at 195 South 200 West in Willard which Pettingill identified as the source of his marijuana purchases; and that lab tests indicated that the substance purchased by Pettingill was marijuana (R. 39-40).

The warrant also requested, because of the lateness of

¹ Record references are made only with respect to defendant Patricia Kay Simmons' file, since the contents of both records are nearly identical.

the day, no-knock nighttime authority for the search. This request was based on Officer Merino's experience that narcotics dealers were arming themselves for protection generally, though the affidavit did not state specific facts relating to this case in support of the request for either nighttime or no-knock authority (R. 40-41). Judge Baldwin issued the search warrant with the requested no-knock nighttime authority (R. 33-34, 42-23) (Affidavit and Warrant are attached at Addendum B.)

The warrant was executed at 6:30 p.m. on January 20, 1992. Defendants and the State stipulated that the sun set at 5:29 p.m. on that day (Findings and Order on Defendants' Motion to Suppress, "Order," R. 83-84, attached at Addendum C). The search yielded marijuana, various items relating to the possession and distribution of marijuana and \$800, \$500 of which was cash and firearms (Record of the preliminary hearing, R. 9).

Defendants moved to suppress the seized evidence on the ground that the affidavit lacked sufficient factual information to support a nighttime search, relying on this Court's decision on the same issue in State v. Rowe, 806 P.2d 730 (Utah App. 1991) (Rowe I), rev'd on other grounds, 196 Utah Adv. Rep (Utah Sept. 28, 1992) (Motion to Suppress and Supporting Memorandum, R. 33-57 at 34-37). The State responded, noting that "nighttime" for warrant purposes was undefined under Utah law, but that under rule 41(h), Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, "daytime" was between 6:00 a.m. and 10:00 p.m., and further, that the affidavit contained sufficient information to support nighttime authority

(Response to Motion for Suppression, R. 58-62).²

The trial court granted defendants' motion, which was first heard on August 3, 1992 (R. 66), but continued the hearing, before a written order issued, to October 19, 1992, because of disagreement on the proposed findings and on account of the issuance of Rowe II (see R. 67-79). At neither hearing was evidence taken (see Minute Entries of August 8 and October 19, 1992, R. 66, 82). At the October 19, 1992 hearing the parties discussed whether "good faith" had been previously raised (Transcript of Suppression Hearing, R. 120-24). The trial court found that matter had not been raised and was not under consideration; rather it wished that its reaffirmation of its initial granting of suppression be specifically supported by 1) the lack of particularity required under Rowe I and 2) that Rowe II be distinguished because the executing officer did not also have valid arrest warrants (R. 131-34, attached at Addendum D). However, the trial court also specifically requested that the State appeal its ruling (R. 132). The State appeals from the resulting Order (see Permission for Petition to Appeal, R. 86-117).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I

Nighttime searches are undefined in Utah law. Some jurisdictions have adopted the view that "daytime" is that period

² On appeal the State concedes that the affidavit lacked sufficient factual specificity to authorize nighttime entry under Rowe I.

between sunrise and sunset. Other jurisdictions have adopted the common law view that "daytime" is that period in which there is sufficient light to determine the features of a person, i.e., a factual determination of darkness. However, considering current lifestyles, and considering the precision afforded by following the federal rule, this Court should adopt the rule that for warrant purposes, "in the night," as provided in Utah Code Ann. § 77-23-5 (1990), should lie between the hours of 10:00 p.m. and 6:00 a.m.

In this case the trial court merely assumed that "in the night" was necessarily that period between sunset and sunrise. That unconsidered view was incorrect and necessarily compelled an erroneous factual finding that the warrant in this case had been served in the night. Even if this Court should decline to adopt the federal definition, it should nonetheless find that the trial court erred in granting suppression under Rowe II.

POINT II

Under Rowe II, the Utah Supreme Court held that suppression is not a proper remedy for a procedural violation unless the defendant can make out a fundamental violation under the fourth amendment or that s/he suffered prejudice or bad faith in the execution of the warrant. Rowe II demonstrated, by the authority it cited, that violation of section 77-23-5 is a procedural violation only and that a lack of prejudice may be demonstrated in circumstances other than those in which the

officers executing the warrant possess a valid arrest warrant.

It is defendants' burden to show that they have been deprived of their fourth amendment rights. In this case defendants failed to show they suffered a fundamental violation under the fourth amendment or that they suffered prejudice or bad faith in the execution of the warrant. Further, the trial court incorrectly restricted its legal analysis by ordering suppression merely because the executing officers in this case did not also have valid arrest warrants.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT CONCLUDED WITHOUT SUFFICIENT BASIS THAT THE WARRANT WAS SERVED "IN THE NIGHT" UNDER UTAH CODE ANN. § 77-23-5 (1990).

The defendants and the State stipulated that the sun set at 5:29 p.m. on January 20, 1992 and that the warrant was executed at about 6:30 p.m. (R. 83). From this fact the trial court found that the warrant was executed in the nighttime (R. 83).

Factual findings supporting a trial court's decision on a motion to suppress are subject to a clearly erroneous standard. State v. Bobo, 803 P.2d 1268, 1271-72 (Utah App. 1990). Conclusions of law arising from factual findings in a motion to suppress hearing are subject to a correction of error standard, according no particular deference to the trial court. Ibid. "[An appellate court will] review for correctness a trial court's statutory interpretation, according it no particular

deference.' State v. Jaimez, [817 P.2d 822, 826] (Utah App. 1991); State v. Swapp, 808 P.2d 115, 120 (Utah App. 1991) (citations omitted)." State v. Singh, 819 P.2d 356, 359 (Utah App. 1991).

Section 77-23-5 provides, in pertinent part:

(1) The magistrate must insert a direction in the warrant that it be served in the daytime, unless the affidavits or oral testimony state a reasonable cause to believe a search is necessary in the night to seize the property prior to it being concealed, destroyed, damaged or altered, or for other good reason; in which case he may insert a direction that it be served any time of the day or night. An officer may request other persons to assist him in conducting the search.

Section 77-23-5 does not specifically define "in the night." The State has been unable to locate any relevant legislative history. This Court has also previously noted that it too had "not found any Utah statutes or cases defining 'nighttime.'" State v. Purser, 828 P.2d 515, 519 n.1 (Utah App. 1992).

In Purser, this Court declined to discuss, but identified, three views for determining what time is "nighttime" for warrant purposes:

The first view requires a factual determination of whether there is sufficient natural light that one can distinguish a person's features. See, e.g., State v. Burnside, 113 Idaho 65, 741 P.2d 352, 356 (1987). The second view defines nighttime according to sunrise and sunset. See, e.g., Grant v. Hass, 31 Tex. Civ. App. 688, 75 S.W. 342, 343 (1903) (daytime is thirty minutes before sunrise to thirty minutes after sunset). The last view sets forth specific

hours for execution of a search warrant without special authorization. See, e.g., Fed. R. Crim. P. 41(h) (6:00 a.m. to 10:00 p.m.).

Id. at 519 n.1.

In Kuenzel v. State, 577 S.2d 474 (Ala. Crim. App. 1990), the trial court was found to have properly denied a motion to suppress where the warrant, apparently lacking express nighttime authority, was served two minutes after sunset. There was testimony that it was still daylight when the warrant was served. The Alabama Court of Criminal Appeals, essentially adopting the first view noted in Purser, held that "[t]he weight of authority supports the conclusion that where the term 'nighttime' is not defined, the definition of 'nighttime' [is] based on a factual determination of darkness, rather than a rigid sunset-to-sunrise test," citing 26 A.L.R.3d at 975, 978 in support. Id. at 509.

However, in Commonwealth v. Grimshaw, 595 N.E.2d 302 (Mass. 1992), the court rejected the common law view that for criminal purposes "night means 'a period when the light of day had so far disappeared, that the fact of a person was not discernible by the light of the sun or twilight.'" Id. at 306 (citations omitted). Instead, the court adopted rule 41(h), Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure,³ which provides that

³ Rule 41(c), Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, provides in pertinent part:

The warrant shall be served in the daytime, unless the issuing authority, by appropriate provision in the warrant, and for reasonable

nighttime does not begin for warrant purposes until 10:00 p.m. Noting that no universal standard had emerged from its study of the issue, the court opined the federal rule was the one "that best protects the public from unreasonable intrusions by the police, is in keeping with current life-styles, and gives the police notice as to the precise time in all seasons when permission for a nighttime search must be requested." Id. at 307.

In this case the trial court's factual determination of "nighttime" is totally dependent on the definition it selects. There was evidently no argument on this point, but it is implicit in the trial court's findings that it assumed that "nighttime" was that period between sunset and sunrise. In complete disregard for the alternative common law view, the trial court made no factual determination of darkness or that there was insufficient light to discern defendants' faces.

As the court in Kuenzel noted, defining "daytime" as that period between sunrise and sunset appears to be a minority position. However, neither definition of "daytime" has the

cause shown, authorizes its execution at times other than daytime. . . .

Rule 41(h), Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, provides in pertinent part:

The term "daytime" is used in this rule to mean the hours from 6:00 a.m. to 10:00 p.m.

precision offered by the federal rule, which specifies the hours of "daytime" and clearly puts the police on notice of whether, under the circumstances, they must request nighttime authority and whether their execution of the warrant is authorized. Similarly, the federal rule puts the public on notice of those periods in which a warrant may not be served without the specialized authority required by section 77-23-5. Furthermore, as the court in Grimshaw noted, service until 10:00 p.m. is in keeping with current lifestyles and is thereby not intrinsically repulsive.

For all the reasons referenced above, this Court should interpret the phrase "in the night" as it is used in section 77-23-5 to mean the period between 10:00 p.m. and 6:00 a.m. Under that definition, the trial court erroneously found that the warrant, as a matter of fact, had been executed "in the nighttime."

POINT II

UNDER ROWE II THE EXCLUSIONARY RULE SHOULD BE APPLIED ONLY IN CASES WHERE PROCEDURAL ERRORS IN ISSUING WARRANTS ALSO RESULT IN FUNDAMENTAL VIOLATIONS OF THE FOURTH AMENDMENT, ARE PREJUDICIAL TO DEFENDANTS OR DEMONSTRATE BAD FAITH. IN THIS CASE THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY CONCLUDED UNDER ROWE II THAT ONLY THE EXISTENCE OF VALID ARREST WARRANTS COULD SAVE EVIDENCE SEIZED PURSUANT TO A PROCEDURALLY DEFECTIVE SEARCH WARRANT FROM EXCLUSION.

If this Court declines to adopt the effective federal definition of "nighttime," i.e., from 10:00 p.m. to 6:00 a.m., but instead holds that "nighttime" is either 1) strictly defined

by that period from sunset to sunrise, or 2) that period in which the face of a person is not discernible by the light of the sun or twilight, i.e., a factual determination of darkness, then this Court should nevertheless find that the trial court erred in granting defendant's motion to suppress under State v. Rowe, 196 Utah Adv. Rep. 14 (Utah Sept. 28, 1992) (Rowe II).

A. Rowe II Compels Suppression Only
Upon Proof of a Fundamental Violation
of the Fourth Amendment, Prejudice
or Bad Faith.

In Rowe II, the Utah Supreme Court reversed this Court's holding in State v. Rowe, 806 P.2d 730 (Utah App. 1991), that a warrant supported by an affidavit lacking sufficient specific facts to authorize nighttime entry under Utah Code Ann. § 77-23-5 (1990) required suppression of evidence seized in execution of the warrant. The court stated:

"Only a 'fundamental' violation of [a rule of criminal procedure] requires automatic suppression, and a violation is 'fundamental' only where it, in effect, renders the search unconstitutional under traditional fourth amendment standards. Where the alleged violation . . . is not 'fundamental' suppression is required only where: (1) there was 'prejudice' in the sense that the search might not have occurred or would not have been so abrasive if the rule had been followed, or (2) there is evidence of intentional and deliberate disregard of a provision of the rule. . . .

. . . It is only where the violation also implicates fundamental, constitutional concerns, is conducted in bad-faith or has substantially prejudiced the defendant that exclusion may be an appropriate remedy." [Quoting

State v. Fixel, 744 P.2d 1366, 1369
(Utah 1987) (emphasis is original).]

The majority of courts that have examined the issue have determined that procedural violations in the execution of search warrants do not require suppression of the evidence seized.

Id. at 15 (citation omitted) (emphasis added). The court found the defendant had not been prejudiced where he was unable to show that the search would not have otherwise taken place or would have been less abrasive if the rule had been followed, and particularly because the police had authority for a nighttime entry pursuant to a valid arrest warrant for the owner of the residence which was the subject of the search. Id. at 16.

In support of its contention that failure to strictly conform to section 77-23-5 was only a procedural violation, Rowe II cited a number of cases. Rowe, 196 Utah Adv. Rep. at 16 n.11. Typical of those cases was United States v. Searp, 586 F.2d 1117 (6th Cir. 1978).

In Searp, the affidavit lacked "reasonable cause" to support a warrant authorizing nighttime entry under rule 41(c), Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure. However, while noting that nighttime entry may be a severe intrusion, the protection afforded by the rule was essentially prophylactic, i.e., procedural, and not intrinsically a part of the fourth amendment right to be free of unreasonable searches and seizures. Id. at 1121-24. Therefore, where there was no demonstration of prejudice or bad faith, "requiring suppression in all cases would be a remedy out of all proportion to the benefits gained"

Id. at 1123. See also State v. Brock, 653 P.2d 543, 547 (Or. 1982) (Oregon statute providing for nighttime authorization was "concerned with minimizing the heightened risks and apprehensions associated with a nighttime intrusion into the home, not with the overall protection against unjustified searches and seizures").

Rowe II also cited a number of cases supporting its view that absent a showing of prejudice procedural violations relating to the fourth amendment do not require suppression. Rowe, 196 Utah Adv. Rep. at 16 n.11. See United States v. Schoenheit, 856 F.2d 74, 77 (8th Cir. 1988) (finding that although the affidavit lacked reasonable cause to support a nighttime search, the defendant failed to demonstrate that the search would not have occurred or been less abrasive if executed before 10:00 p.m.); Searp, 586 F.2d at 1122 (search pursuant to defective nighttime warrant justified where judge knew search would take place at night and the defendant's mother knew that police intended to search the house); United States v. Shelton, 742 F. Supp. 1491, 1503 (D. Wyo. 1990) (evidence seized under nighttime warrant lacking reasonable cause held admissible where there was no evidence of prejudice, abrasive search or that searches would not have occurred even if nighttime warrants had not been promptly executed).

Rowe II also cited Utah case law affirming the view that only fundamental violations of rights compel suppression. Rowe, 196 Utah Adv. Rep. at 15-16 n. 9. In Fixel, the court refused to suppress evidence gathered by a city police officer

merely because he acted outside his statutory authority. Id. at 1368-69. In State v. Buck, 756 P.2d 700, 703 (Utah 1988), the court found that the defendant's privacy rights were not prejudicially infringed by a warrant mistakenly executed in no-knock fashion where the warrant was otherwise valid and the defendant was not at home.

In none of these cases cited in Rowe II was it required that technically invalid entries into residences be saved by the presence of a valid arrest warrant, for the obvious reason that a lack of prejudice may be demonstrated in innumerable ways. Indeed, Rowe II invokes the harmless error standard in defining a defendant's necessary showing of prejudice. Rowe, 196 Utah Adv. Rep. at 16 n.13 (citing rule 30, Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure, and State v. Verde, 770 P.2d 116, 120 (Utah 1989) (errors which are "sufficiently inconsequential that there is no reasonable likelihood that the error affected the outcome of the proceedings")). Thus, in State v. Garcia, 501 N.E.2d 527 (Mass. App. Ct. 1986), the court found the defendant unprejudiced by the fact that items seized in a nighttime search would also have been discovered if the search had been conducted the following day. Id. at 530.

B. Defendant Failed to Assume His Burden of Proof, and the Trial Court Incorrectly Applied the Law under Rowe II.

1. Defendant Bears the Burden of Proof to Show Fourth Amendment Violation.

"The proponent of a motion to suppress has the burden

of establishing that his own Fourth Amendment rights were violated by the challenged search or seizure.'" State v. Atwood, 831 P.2d 1056, 1058 n.1 (Utah App. 1992) (quoting State v. Marshall, 791 P.2d 880, 886 (Utah App. 1990) from Rakas v. Illinois, 439 U.S. 128, 130 n.1, 99 S. Ct. 421, 424 n.1 (1978)). "Evidence sought to be excluded is admissible . . . until the accused has established that his rights . . . have been invaded." Ibid. (citations omitted).

Rowe II explicitly stands for the proposition that a violation of section 77-23-5 is procedural only, and does not of itself constitute an infringement of fourth amendment rights unless there has been a showing of prejudice or bad faith. Therefore, in addition to showing a procedural violation related to his fourth amendment rights, defendant bears the further burden of demonstrating prejudice. Rowe, 196 Utah Adv. Rep. at 16. See also United States v. Schoenheit, 856 F.2d 74, 77 (8th Cir. 1988) (no showing of prejudice where the defendant failed to demonstrate that the search would not have occurred if the rule had been followed or been less abrasive if executed before 10:00 p.m.).

In this case the record does not show that defendants did anything more than show that the sun set at 5:29 p.m. and that the warrant was executed at about 6:30 p.m. (R. 83). Since, as argued above (Appellant's Brief at Point I), there presently exists no Utah authority defining "nighttime" under section 77-23-5, there is substantial doubt as to whether defendants even

established a technical violation of the statute. In any event, defendants never alleged that there was no justification for nighttime authorization,⁴ that there were no facts which would have justified a nighttime entry, that the entry was at all abusive in that defendants were discovered asleep, undressed or were compromised in their privacy other than as they would have in an undeniable daytime search, or, finally, that evidence was discovered which would not have been seized if the search were conducted the following day.

Further, defendants never alleged that the police acted in bad faith in either securing or in executing the warrant. In sum, defendants have failed to sustain their burden that they were deprived of their fourth amendment rights as a result of official misconduct.

2. The Trial Court Incorrectly Assumed That Without the Existence of Valid Arrest Warrants the Evidence Must be Suppressed.

In deciding defendants' motion to suppress the trial court analyzed Rowe II. It is apparent from the trial court's remarks that it was fixated by the supreme court's finding that the defendant had not suffered prejudice because the police also had a valid arrest warrant for the owner of the premises (P 131-

⁴ Defendants asserted at the suppression hearing that their motion was based on the fact that the police officers had no justification for nighttime entry (R. 130). Defendants are entirely mistaken in this assertion. The motion to suppress was directed exclusively toward the deficiency of the affidavit under Rowe I (see Motion to Suppress and Supporting Memorandum, R. 33-37).

34). The trial court's order reflects its inappropriately constrained view of the prejudice requirement discussed in Rowe II:

3. Because there is no evidence before the Court that the officers who executed the search warrant in this case had in their possession a valid warrant for the arrest of any person within the premises searched, the procedural defect in failing to include sufficient grounds for nighttime entry, and the nighttime execution of this search warrant, amounted to a fundamental violation of the Defendants' rights requiring suppression of the evidence seized pursuant to the search warrant. State v. Fixel, 744 P.2d 1366 (Utah 1987); State v. Rowe, 196 Utah Adv. Rep. 14 (Utah 1992).

(Order, R. 84).

A trial court's interpretation of the law is a legal conclusion. "Utah appellate courts review legal conclusions under a correction-of-error standard, granting no particular deference to the trial court." State v. Gonzalez, 822 P.2d 1214, 1217 (Utah App. 1991).

As noted above, Rowe II, upon which the trial court in this case so deliberately relied, identified, by citation to authority, a broad range of nonprejudicial circumstances which condoned the admission of evidence seized in violation of procedural rules or statutes (see Appellant's Brief at 11-15). None of those circumstances happened to involve the fortuitous existence of valid arrest warrants. In failing to recognize that a lack of prejudice may be demonstrated in circumstances other than those in which the officers happen to have an arrest warrant, the trial court incorrectly cut short the appropriate