1992

Utah v. David Simmons and Patricia Kay Simmons : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction by virtue of Utah Code Ann. § 77-18a-1(2)(e) and § 78-2a-3(2)(e) (Supp. 1993).

ISSUES AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW

1. Whether the search warrant in this case was served "in the night" within the meaning of §77-23-5, Utah Code Ann. (1953). The trial court's factual finding on this question is reviewed by this Court under a clearly erroneous standard. State v. Bobo, 803 P.2d 1268 (Utah App. 1990).

2. Whether the failure of the search warrant affidavit to set forth specific facts justifying a nighttime search should result in the exclusion of evidence seized pursuant to the search warrant. This Court reviews a trial court's legal conclusions for correctness. Stewart v. State es rel. Deland, 830 P.2d 306 (Utah App. 1992).

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS AND STATUTES

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISION

U.S. Const. Amendment IV [Unreasonable Searches and Seizures]: The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no Warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by Oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized.

STATUTE

Utah Code Ann. §77-23-5. Time for Service - Officer may request assistance.

(1) The magistrate must insert a direction in the warrant that it be served in the daytime, unless the affidavits or oral testimony state a reasonable cause to believe a search is necessary in the night to seize the property prior to it being concealed, destroyed, damaged or altered, or for other good reason; in which case he may insert a direction that it may be served any time of the day or night. An officer may request other persons to assist him in conducting the search.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

This is a criminal prosecution against the Defendant/Appellees for possession of a controlled substance with the intent to distribute within 1000 feet of a child care facility in violation of §58-37-8(1).

Course of Proceedings and Disposition in the Court Below

The Defendant/Appellees were charged with possession of a controlled substance, marijuana, with intent to distribute within

1000 feet of a child care facility or with a person younger than eighteen years. After a preliminary hearing both defendants were bound over for trial in the district court (R. 1). The defendants filed a pre-trial motion to suppress all evidence seized pursuant to the execution of a search warrant on their residence on January 20, 1992 (R. 40). After a hearing the motion to suppress was granted (R. 74). Proposed findings were submitted and objected to by the State (R. 67, 69), and a second hearing on the objections, and to consider the intervening Supreme Court decision in State v. Rowe, 196 Utah Adv. Rep. 14 (Utah 9/28/92), was held (R. 82). After the second hearing the trial court reaffirmed its initial decision to suppress the evidence (R. 82), and the State took this interlocutory appeal (R. 117).

Statement of Facts

On January 20, 1992, Roy City police officer Carl Merino applied to the Circuit Court for a search warrant to search the residence of Defendants (R. 38). The affidavit in support of the application contained no specific facts to support the application for night execution, but instead made only generalized statements applicable to all drug cases and based only on the affiant's general conclusions (R. 40). Nonetheless, nighttime authority was included in the resulting search warrant (R. 43), which was executed that same date at 6:30 p.m. (R. 83). The parties stipulated that the sun set at 5:29 p.m. on that day (R. 83). Upon executing the search warrant the officers found and seized the evidence upon which this prosecution was initiated.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

1. The trial court properly concluded that this search warrant was executed "in the night" within the statutory meaning. In the circumstances of this case, where the warrant was executed one hour after sunset in the winter, the trial judge's conclusion that night had fallen was not clearly erroneous.

2. The exclusionary rule was properly applied to the evidence seized as a result of the execution of the defective search warrant. The decision of the Utah Supreme Court in State v. Rowe, 196 Utah Adv. Rep. 14 (Utah 1992), relied upon the existence in that case of a valid arrest warrant which afforded an alternative lawful justification for the executing officers' presence in the place searched.

ARGUMENT

POINT I: THE FINDING BY THE TRIAL COURT THAT THIS WARRANT WAS EXECUTED "IN THE NIGHT" WAS NOT CLEARLY ERRONEOUS.

Unless the trial court's finding of fact that the search warrant in this case was executed "in the nighttime" was clearly erroneous, it should not be disturbed. State v. Bobo, 803 P.2d 1268 (Utah App. 1990) at 1271-2. The trial court's findings are "clearly erroneous" only if they are in conflict with the clear weight of the evidence, State v. Marshall, 791 P.2d 880 (Utah App. 1990), cert. den. 800 P.2d 1105 (Utah 1990), or if the appellate court has a "definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been made," State v. Walker, 743 P.2d 191 (Utah 1987).

The factual basis in this record for the trial court's finding of "nighttime" is the parties' stipulation that the search warrant was executed at 6:30 p.m. on a midwinter day when the sun had set an hour earlier at 5:29 p.m. Only these facts exist on the record, and it is clear that the trial judge reached the finding of "nighttime" in one or both of the following ways:

1. That common sense would dictate that darkness had descended an hour after sunset on a late January day, and that darkness was a sufficient basis to conclude that the warrant was served "in the night;" or
2. That the word "night" in the statute should be defined as the period between sunset and sunrise.

There are no Utah cases defining "nighttime" for the purpose of searches, State v. Purser, 828 P.2d 515 (Utah App. 1992), and the statute itself is silent on this point. There is, however, ample authority to support the trial court's conclusion that actual darkness constitutes "night." See, e.g., State v. Burnside, 741 P.2d 352 (Idaho 1987), holding that unless there is sufficient natural light to distinguish a person's features, it is "night." In State v. Holman, 424 N.W.2d 627 (Neb. 1988), where the daytime warrant was executed at 8:00 p.m. on a day (March 31) on which it was stipulated the sun had set at 6:47 p.m., the court, holding that "daytime" extends from dawn to darkness, reversed the trial court's denial of a motion to suppress. The darkness standard is also adopted in Kuenzel v. State, 577 So.2d 474 (Ala. Cr. App. 1990). Although the record in this case does not expressly describe darkness, the only logical inference that may be drawn from the stipulation is that it was in fact dark when this

warrant was executed, because on a midwinter day it will be dark long before an hour has passed since the sun has set.

The only other logical conclusion the trial judge could have reached, that "night" is the period between sunset and sunrise, is equally sound. It is a fundamental rule of construction that statutory terms which are not specifically defined are to be taken in the sense in which they are understood in common language. State v. Holman, supra, at 628. Virtually every reputable dictionary consulted gives as the preferred definition of "night," the "period between sunset and sunrise." Webster's New Universal Unabridged Dictionary (2d ed. 1979). This division of time between day and night on the basis of sunset and sunrise is a universally accepted and commonly understood concept.

The State urges this Court to define "night" in our statute by adopting Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 41(h), which defines "daytime" as the period from 6:00 a.m. to 10:00 p.m. Such an arbitrary definition would effectively condone the execution of "daytime only" search warrants during the several hours each day of total darkness which fall within the specified hours during the winter. In light of the historical recognition that the search of a dwelling after darkness has fallen is even more invasive than one during daylight, State v. Rowe, 806 P.2d 730 (Utah App. 1991) at 738-39 and n. 10, 11 at 739, the adoption of such an arbitrary standard would therefore destroy the clear legislative intent to distinguish such searches.

POINT II: THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXCLUDED THE EVIDENCE SEIZED
UPON THE EXECUTION OF THIS DEFECTIVE SEARCH WARRANT.

The State concedes that this search warrant was defective because the supporting affidavit lacked the requisite factual specificity to authorize nighttime entry. Brief of Appellant at 5 n. 2. This case is thus factually identical with State v. Rowe, 196 Utah Adv. Rep. 14 (Utah 1992), where the Supreme Court reversed a decision of this Court which had applied the exclusionary rule to evidence seized with a nighttime warrant which was defective in the same way as that in the present case. State v. Rowe, 806 P.2d 730 (Utah Ct. App. 1991), rev'd, 196 Utah Adv. Rep. 14 (Utah 1992).

The disposition of this appeal depends on the proper interpretation of the Supreme Court decision in Rowe II, where the Supreme Court said:

"We have previously held that suppression of evidence is an appropriate remedy for illegal police conduct only when that conduct implicates a fundamental violation of a defendant's rights. (citing State v. Fixel, 744 P.2d 1366 [Utah 1987]). . . .

Under the facts of this case, we conclude that the violation of section 77-23-5 did not implicate defendant's fundamental rights. . . .

It is of particular significance that in addition to the search warrant for Swickey's apartment, the officers carried a valid warrant for Swickey's arrest. . . The officers' entry into the apartment during nighttime hours and without notice, although not properly authorized by the search warrant, was properly authorized by the warrant for Swickey's arrest. . . Inasmuch as the officers made lawful entry onto the premises and had general authority to secure those premises plus a valid warrant to search the premises during the daylight, the improperly authorized execution

of that search during the nighttime constitutes a minimal intrusion on interests protected by the Fourth Amendment." 196 Utah Adv. Rep. at 15-16 (emphasis added).

Contrary to the assertion in the State's brief that Rowe II stands for the proposition that a violation of §77-23-5 is always procedural only, and never implicates a defendant's fundamental rights, the above language makes it clear that the particular facts of Rowe II compelled the conclusion in that case only. The Supreme Court carefully confined its holding to the facts of that case, and expressly tied its conclusion that the violation in that case did not involve a fundamental right to the existence of a valid arrest warrant for one of the occupants of the dwelling. The concurring opinion of Justice Durham (joined by Justice Zimmerman) emphasizes this point. Rowe II, supra, at 16.

It is Appellees' position that because the police in this case, unlike Rowe II, did not simultaneously possess a valid arrest warrant for an occupant of the residence, the violation of §77-23-5 involved a fundamental right under the Fourth Amendment, and the trial court therefore properly applied the exclusionary rule. Under this analysis, the showing of bad faith or prejudice which the State suggests becomes immaterial, since these factors come into play only if a violation does not "implicate a fundamental violation of a defendant's rights." The violation in this case involved a fundamental right; indeed, the particularized requirements for nighttime searches may even be a "constitutional imperative." Rowe I, supra, n. 11 at 739.